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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I'm Bill Perkins, Chair of the City

          4  Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5                 Today we will be returning to a bill

          6  that we first reviewed on May 2nd, 2002. This is

          7  proposed Introductory Bill No. 171-A, which deals

          8  with strengthening and clarifying the Campaign

          9  Finance Act.

         10                 The bill has been amended and the

         11  Committee will review these amendments.

         12                 I should point out up front that this

         13  is not going to be the last hearing on this bill. We

         14  recognize that it's a work-in-progress, and after

         15  this hearing hopefully there will be additions and

         16  modifications from the testimony and concerns

         17  expressed by both the public, as well as the

         18  members, that will then get us to refine the bill

         19  even more.

         20                 So, as is the case with many

         21  masterpieces, we've just got to keep working at it

         22  before it's done.

         23                 And, so, we expect to hear testimony

         24  about the Campaign Finance Program, and how proposed

         25  Introductory Number 171 affects it, from the
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          2  Campaign Finance Board, election attorneys and good

          3  government groups.

          4                 In addition, many of the members of

          5  the Committee have participated in the program and

          6  have had their own experiences with the program, and

          7  we, of course, have our own opinions about the

          8  program.

          9                 What is this bill trying to

         10  accomplish?

         11                 Let me begin by noting that New York

         12  City has been trailblazing in regards to Campaign

         13  Finance Reform.

         14                 This Council first enacted Campaign

         15  Finance Reform legislation back in 1988. We created

         16  a program that has been a paradigm shifting and a

         17  model for other cities and a nation as a whole.

         18                 Of course, as with all novel things,

         19  the program is not perfect, and with time it is

         20  tested and then reviewed and revised.

         21                 This bill appears to be trying to do

         22  one of these necessary such revisions.

         23                 Notwithstanding such imperfections,

         24  the Campaign Finance Program has moved our City

         25  ahead by leaps and bounds. The City's political
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          2  process is purer and stronger. Democratic

          3  participation by the people has been enhanced. And

          4  the influence of special interest groups and their

          5  money has been eradicated. Almost.

          6                 All in all, a success that is growing

          7  more and more with each passing day.

          8                 Now I want to note something this

          9  bill is not about.

         10                 For the record, this bill is in no

         11  way increasing or decreasing matching funds, or

         12  increasing or decreasing candidate campaign

         13  expenditure limitations.

         14                 There has been some discussion of

         15  these issues, and actually there is separate

         16  legislation before this Committee addressing such

         17  things; however, it is not before the Committee

         18  today for discussion in this hearing.

         19                 This does not mean the Committee will

         20  never hear this issue, it is simply not the issue

         21  before the Committee today, and it doesn't mean that

         22  we will hear the issue either.

         23                 Before we begin this hearing, I'd

         24  like to acknowledge the work of Council Member Eva

         25  Moskowitz, who is the prime sponsor, and I would
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          2  like to give her an opportunity to say a few words,

          3  but even before that, I want to just also extend my

          4  congratulations and appreciation to the Campaign

          5  Finance Board, Eva Moskowitz, the Central staff of

          6  the City Council, for the work, the cooperative

          7  work, lots of work that I know they've been getting

          8  involved with to get us to the point we're at today,

          9  and as the Chair of this Committee I very much

         10  appreciate it and look forward to the last hearing

         11  of this matter on a bill that we all can be proud

         12  of.

         13                 Council Member Eva Moskowitz.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair. And I also wanted to echo your

         16  sentiments, Matt Tollin and Eric Lane and Marcel Van

         17  Ooyen, as well as the Campaign Finance Board, who

         18  have spent hours and hours with a fairly technical

         19  subject, but nonetheless, a very, very important

         20  subject, because it's the technicalities that

         21  ultimately impact on the candidate and I certainly

         22  appreciate all of the work that has been done on

         23  this bill and just wanted to publicly acknowledge

         24  that.

         25                 As the Chair said, this bill does not
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          2  change the matching formula or the spending limits,

          3  it's really oriented toward building upon what is

          4  clearly a model campaign finance bill nationwide.

          5                 Now that we've had a number of years

          6  of experience and given that participation rates

          7  have increased dramatically, it seemed like the

          8  appropriate time to take a step back and deal with

          9  some of the technicalities that impact candidates on

         10  a day-to-day basis, and I just wanted to highlight

         11  very briefly some of the changes that I think are

         12  proposed in this bill that are very, very important.

         13                 One concerns the area of every day

         14  political activity, where the candidate is not

         15  directly benefitting forward his or her political

         16  activity, there was a lot of confusion about what

         17  was allowed. Clubs are very important to the culture

         18  and the history of the City and some of the rules

         19  and interpretation seemed to inhibit political

         20  activity in a way which was detrimental. So, we

         21  tried to balance in this bill the need to obviously

         22  not have candidates used for political club activity

         23  as a cover to forward their own political career and

         24  yet allow them to participate in political activity.

         25                 There was also a lot of concern about
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          2  what constituted a "violation" of the act versus a

          3  technical minor problem, and you could, as a

          4  candidate, you know, do something that was very

          5  unintentional, have a computer problem or something,

          6  which then led to a very, very serious charge, and I

          7  think this bill tries to, while giving the Campaign

          8  Finance Board still a lot of leeway, encourage them

          9  to make a distinction between intentional, serious

         10  misconduct and technical problem.

         11                 And thirdly, it tries to rationalize

         12  and simplify the exempt expenditures, which I think

         13  is both a nightmare for the Campaign Finance Board

         14  and a nightmare for candidates, and the bill tries

         15  to come up with a process that will simplify that

         16  process a little bit.

         17                 So, I appreciate, Chairman Perkins,

         18  your patience with this bill. We've had a lot of

         19  hearings and it's a complicated topic, and I

         20  appreciate the time that you have devoted to

         21  allowing all these issues to be aired.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         24  again, for your work. I want to acknowledge the

         25  presence of some of the Committee members who are
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          2  here now.

          3                 Beginning on my left, the Chairwoman

          4  of Housing and Buildings, Madeline Provenzano, and

          5  next to her is the Chair of our Public Safety

          6  Committee, Peter Vallone, Jr.

          7                 You've heard from the Chairwoman of

          8  our Education Committee, and the prime sponsor of

          9  this legislation, Eva Moskowitz. The Counsel to this

         10  Committee, Matthew Tollin, and, of course, we all

         11  know Eric Lane, the super special counsel to the

         12  City Council, and who has been not only working very

         13  hard on this legislation, but has been working hard

         14  on other matters for the City Council, as well as

         15  had a long history of involvement with the reform of

         16  our counsel and our City government.

         17                 Without further ado, I'd like to call

         18  forward our first panel, which is going to be some

         19  representative of the Campaign Finance Board, the

         20  Executive Director of the Campaign Finance Board

         21  Nicole Gordon, and then, of course, the general

         22  counsel of the Campaign Finance Board Sue Ellen

         23  Dodell, and Amy Loprest.

         24                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon.

         25                 Could you please raise your right
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          2  hand.

          3                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          4  testimony you're about to give to the Committee is

          5  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

          6  truth?

          7                 MS. GORDON: I do.

          8                 MS. CAMPOLO: I do.

          9                 MS. LOPREST: I do.

         10                 MS. DODELL: I do.

         11                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. Could you each

         12  for the record state your name, the organization

         13  you're affiliated with and your position with the

         14  organization.

         15                 MS. GORDON: Nicole Gordon, the

         16  Executive Director of the Campaign Finance Board.

         17                 I hope some day they'll reverse this

         18  and make the light go on when it's on.

         19                 MS. CAMPOLO: Carole Campolo,

         20  Executive Director.

         21                 MS. LOPREST: Amy Loprest, Director of

         22  Campaign Finance Administration.

         23                 MS. DODELL: Sue Ellen Dodell, General

         24  Counsel.

         25                 MS. GORDON: Thank you, Chairman
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          2  Perkins, Council Member Moskowitz, the sponsor of

          3  Intro. 171-A and members of the Committee.

          4                 We've already identified ourselves so

          5  I won't take up your time on that. I do want to

          6  thank you for the opportunity to testify today on

          7  Intro. 171-A, a bill that we believe is a positive

          8  step forward of the legislative life of the Campaign

          9  Finance Act.

         10                 I would like to take this opportunity

         11  particularly to thank the Council's staff, Eric

         12  Lane, Marcel Van Ooyen, Matthew Tollin, and also Jay

         13  Damashek, for the courtesy they have extended to the

         14  CFB staff throughout this process, and for the frank

         15  and constructive discussions we have had at every

         16  one of our several meetings, and I would like to say

         17  particularly to Council Member Perkins and Council

         18  Member Moskowitz, I do thank you. These were really

         19  extraordinary meetings. I think they were very

         20  productive in the sense that not only did different

         21  points of view get heard, but they were heard beyond

         22  soundwaves hitting ear drums, they were understood.

         23                 I don't want to recite all the things

         24  that are listed in this bill. I will talk a little

         25  bit about some of the biggest items that Council
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          2  Member Moskowitz mentioned.

          3                 I will just briefly mention that this

          4  bill, in addition to the things I'd like to talk

          5  about a little bit in more detail:

          6                 - does provide for pre-opt in

          7  disclosure statements for candidates at all levels

          8  of office, beginning for the 2005 elections, and

          9  providing for ongoing Board review of these

         10  statements and response for candidates before they

         11  opt-in.

         12                 - a later opt-in date that can be

         13  adopted by the Board, promulgation by the Board of

         14  special rules to govern unusual circumstances, such

         15  as delayed or postponed elections.

         16                 - provisions that require the Board

         17  to set rules for timetables for advisory opinions,

         18  penalty schedules for common violations.

         19                 - distinguishing between violations

         20  and infractions.

         21                 - an opportunity to appear before the

         22  Board before penalty assessments are made; and for,

         23  at the candidate's option, the opportunity to test

         24  electronically submitted disclosure statements three

         25  days in advance of a due date for a statement.
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          2                 As the Council has been considering

          3  these amendments, the Board, in response to

          4  candidates' comments about their experiences in the

          5  2001 elections, has also been taking steps to make

          6  the program compliance easier by implementing

          7  various rules and administrative changes, which we

          8  believe compliments the provisions that are under

          9  consideration today.

         10                 The Board is pleased, of course, to

         11  find that Intro. 171-A incorporates a number of the

         12  recommendations that the Board made in its post

         13  election report and election interrupted.

         14                 The Board believes that these changes

         15  will help to streamline the process of compliance

         16  and that they are an important step to continuing to

         17  maintain and improve the Campaign Finance Act.

         18                 Specifically the bill includes the

         19  Board's recommended changes in the debate law, and

         20  has amended the threshold requirements for City

         21  Council candidates in the next election cycle.

         22                 By allowing sponsors to set standards

         23  for debate participants, the Council will help to

         24  improve the overall quality and value of the debate

         25  program.
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          2                 The recommendations the Board made

          3  were first made after the 1997 election and the

          4  experiences of 2001 serve to enhance the need for

          5  these changes.

          6                 The inclusion of indemnification of

          7  debate sponsors will help broaden the appeal of the

          8  debates to community groups and others whose greater

          9  presence would be valuable.

         10                 The bill's provision to give

         11  flexibility to push back the opt-in date for joining

         12  the program will help to ensure the broadest

         13  possible field of candidates as it becomes

         14  administratively feasible to push the opt-in date to

         15  a later time.

         16                 For City Council candidates uncertain

         17  of where the boundaries of their districts may lie

         18  after this year's redistricting process, the bill's

         19  provisions permitting the receipt of matchable

         20  contributions boroughwide to count toward the

         21  threshold will be an important protection for these

         22  candidates ability to participate in the program.

         23                 The bill sponsors are to be commended

         24  for including these improvements in the Act.

         25                 With respect to protecting the public
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          2  fund, the provisions to set ceilings on matching

          3  funds disbursements in small primary elections will

          4  prevent excessive disbursements of public funds

          5  where the voter population is very small, and the

          6  bill has also taken on the issue of candidates

          7  accepting large public funds payments when facing

          8  little opposition.

          9                 The Board had expressed concern about

         10  this but had offered no specific recommendation. The

         11  legislation before you would put the onus on the

         12  candidate to make a public statement that taxpayer

         13  funds are necessary to remain, for the candidate to

         14  remain competitive. Although this will be a bit of

         15  administrative burden to campaigns and to the Board,

         16  I believe it properly faces a problematic issue.

         17                 The Board hopes that after the 2003

         18  elections the Council will consider other Board

         19  recommendations, such as consolidation of

         20  expenditure limits, lowering expenditure and

         21  contribution limits and banning organizational

         22  contributions.

         23                 This legislation also addresses the

         24  very difficult area of the regulation of political

         25  activities that would not be subject to the
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          2  contribution and expenditure limits.

          3                 As it appears today, Intro. 171-A

          4  seems generally to grant participating candidates

          5  sufficient license to assist fellow candidates'

          6  campaigns in specified ways without any impact to

          7  their own campaigns.

          8                 An appropriate balance is attempted

          9  here between incidental or insubstantial kinds of

         10  activities that may routinely take place on the one

         11  hand, and on the other hand, the need to maintain a

         12  level playing field for all candidates, so that soft

         13  money loopholes are not opened that would undermine

         14  the program.

         15                 This is an area in which it is

         16  important to proceed with caution and to be prepared

         17  to visit the law after the 2003 election.

         18                 We must be certain that the even

         19  playing field created by the Campaign Finance Act is

         20  not distorted by the inventive use of new

         21  provisions.

         22                 While language changes are still

         23  needed to effectuate the purposes under these

         24  provisions, we believe the thrust of them is

         25  correct.
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          2                 Another provision permitting

          3  participating candidates to contribute no more than

          4  $3,000 from non-matchable contributions in an

          5  election cycle to all other campaigns combined

          6  without a reduction in public funds, also appears to

          7  be a thoughtful balance between candidate needs and

          8  protection of the public fund and its purposes.

          9                 The Board very much favors

         10  simplifying reporting and disclosure requirements

         11  where possible.

         12                 The bill provides the candidates can

         13  elect to avoid detailed documentation for exempt

         14  expenditures of the candidates to stay within 7.5

         15  percent of the expenditure limit.

         16                 This will significantly reduce

         17  record-keeping for some candidates, although

         18  candidates who do not observe the 7.5 percent

         19  ceiling will have to give documentation for all

         20  exempt expenditures, if their campaigns exceed the

         21  expenditure limit.

         22                 As Council staff knows, we believe

         23  the Safe Harbor for documentation is effectively

         24  raising the expenditure limit to too high a degree,

         25  especially in light of the Board's position that
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          2  expenditure limits should be decreased, but on

          3  balance the new provisions are an administrative

          4  plus for candidates and for the Board.

          5                 We urge the Council to reconsider the

          6  provision that would allow campaigns to hold onto

          7  contributions received early in the election cycle

          8  for up to 30 days before depositing them.

          9                 The current law requires that all

         10  contributions be deposited within ten days and was

         11  passed in 1990, after it was discovered that the

         12  campaigns were receiving large contributions,

         13  including cash contributions that were not deposited

         14  promptly.

         15                 The possibility for fraud and mistake

         16  does increase if making deposits, record keeping and

         17  reporting are not truly regularly and

         18  contemporaneously achieved.

         19                 The ten-day requirement is generally

         20  met by campaigns, although of course mistakes are

         21  made, no candidate has ever been the subject of an

         22  enforcement action under this provision.

         23                 The Council and the Board both have

         24  worked hard to find ways to simplify the program,

         25  and we fear that a different standard as set forth
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          2  for years before the election ensuring the election

          3  year will make campaign compliance more complex and

          4  pose problems for campaign staff as well as the

          5  Board.

          6                 We have other detailed comments on

          7  technical points and clarifications, and the use of

          8  language necessary to confirm the understanding we

          9  share about the intent and meaning of some

         10  provisions.

         11                 Our staff has already communicated

         12  some of these and I will transmit them all to the

         13  Council staff we have been working with.

         14                 The successes of the Campaign Finance

         15  Program in New York City has been often noted.

         16                 These successes were most apparent

         17  for the 2001 election, the most competitive in City

         18  history, due in no small part to the Campaign

         19  Finance Program and its Administration.

         20                 While the State of New York has done

         21  little to reform its lenient Campaign Financing Law,

         22  New York City can be proud that the City Council

         23  passed what has been called the "most progressive

         24  campaign financing law in the nation," and we would

         25  be remiss in this room not to recognize Peter
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          2  Vallone, Sr. on that point.

          3                 The Council has continued to improve

          4  the model with carefully considered legislation.

          5                 This new Council has the important

          6  responsibility of continuing to Shepherd this law in

          7  a responsible and effective manner.

          8                 Unlike your counterparts at the

          9  federal and state levels, you have demonstrated with

         10  this bill your commitment to preserve a good

         11  government program, even when some might say it is

         12  against your interest to do so.

         13                 The Campaign Finance Board and its

         14  staff look forward to continuing to work with the

         15  Council, other elected officials and all the

         16  candidates to ensure that New York City's Campaign

         17  Finance Program remains at the forefront of reform.

         18                 Thank you, and I will be pleased to

         19  answer any questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         21  again, for your work and your testimony.

         22                 We'll begin with questions from our

         23  Chief sponsor, Eva Moskowitz.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         25  very, very much, Mr. Chair, and thank you, Nicole
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          2  Gordon, for your testimony.

          3                 I wanted to understand your point

          4  about 3/7/03. Can you explain why the ten-day rule?

          5  A) why not 11 days, or what's the ten day? And what

          6  is the danger you see in extending that? Because I'm

          7  not sure I understood.

          8                 MS. GORDON: In fact, the danger was a

          9  reality in 1989, and the reason for the ten-day rule

         10  was a response to what we saw in our audit.

         11                 In particular, we saw campaigns where

         12  stacks and stacks of contributions, including cash

         13  contributions, accumulated and never been deposited,

         14  and that has a lot of implications, the least

         15  important of which in a way, but maybe most

         16  important of which for an average City Council

         17  campaign would be that the failure to move on the

         18  deposits, to deposit them, to record them, to report

         19  them, it becomes all one of a piece, and it's just

         20  poor record-keeping which just leads to compliance

         21  problems, and lack of ability of a campaign to

         22  document what it needs to document.

         23                 The ten-day rule is actually not an

         24  unusual rule, and in some jurisdictions it's as

         25  short as five days, but the ten-day rule is intended
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          2  to keep the record keeping and the depositing and so

          3  on on a regularized basis, and then at the same time

          4  give the candidates enough time to review the

          5  contributions for the important purpose of deciding

          6  whether to accept them because of course sometimes

          7  campaigns get contributions that they don't want to

          8  receive, and they want to be able to receive them

          9  without -- sorry, to return them without any impact

         10  on the campaign.

         11                 So, the ten days is ten business

         12  days, so it's two weeks, giving the campaigns the

         13  opportunity to do that.

         14                 I think that the bill as drafted does

         15  recognize that in an election year it would be

         16  absolutely crucial to have these items within the

         17  ten-day period, and as a practical matter, as I say,

         18  I think the compliance has been pretty good.

         19                 It's not an item that has ever caused

         20  a violation for any campaign, and I don't mean by

         21  that that no campaign has ever failed, I'm just

         22  saying that it's not a big ticket item, but that on

         23  the other hand, having different standards for

         24  different years and not keeping good record keeping

         25  practices in effect from the very beginning, I think
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          2  will end up being a complication for campaigns and

          3  for us.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I mean, I

          5  assume that you're aware of the impetus, but just to

          6  state for the record and the public, I certainly

          7  appreciate your point of view, and I can recognize

          8  that a month before the election, you certainly

          9  don't want things piling up. I think this was

         10  really, the origins of this was more in the off

         11  years, when you don't have paid campaign staff

         12  around full time, ten days can go by awfully

         13  quickly, and you have a part-time person who comes

         14  in once a month to kind of deal with your

         15  administrative things, you can very easily find

         16  yourself breaking this rule. Ten days is just not a

         17  lot of time. I think the impetus was particularly in

         18  the off years to allow a little more flexibility,

         19  and I believe that this doesn't refer to the

         20  disclosure. I thought this was more literally

         21  depositing the check.

         22                 MS. GORDON: I think you're right,

         23  that that's what it explicitly referred to. What I'm

         24  describing, I think, is a matter of campaign

         25  practices that there's sort of a domino effect, that
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          2  if you're not depositing things, recording them,

          3  submitting the disclosure statements in an orderly

          4  fashion, things tend to get out of control and then

          5  we start to see problems, especially with a less

          6  sophisticated campaign.

          7                 You know, the other problem I guess

          8  is that, I can understand your description of a

          9  campaign that's going through a slow period or

         10  something, I don't know, and I haven't looked yet,

         11  but we've only been even thinking about this for a

         12  day and a half, you know, the situation with let's

         13  say a larger campaign in the off years that is

         14  really collecting a lot of money obviously would be

         15  very different from what you're describing and to

         16  what degree you might want to have different rules

         17  for different sizes (sic) and so on. I mean, maybe

         18  this is something that can be further discussed and

         19  worked on. But I did want to alert you that we do

         20  see it as a problem.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         23  acknowledge the attendance of the Majority Whip and

         24  Chair of our Rules Committee, Leroy Comrie, and the

         25  Chairman of our Consumer Affairs Committee, Mr.
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          2  (Cell Phone) Phil Reed. Please make sure your phones

          3  don't go off here now, okay?

          4                 You know, I want to ask a sort of

          5  esoteric kind of question I guess, because there are

          6  two concerns that I have, one is simplicity, the

          7  other is simplicity, and I guess there are three

          8  concerns I have, the other is simplicity.

          9                 Do you understand what I'm trying to

         10  say? As we are shaping up this masterpiece, is it

         11  becoming simpler for the program to be used by your

         12  customers, which are the candidates? I mean, are we

         13  getting more complicated, more ruly? Do you

         14  understand what I'm trying to say?

         15                 MS. GORDON: Sure.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I think what

         17  happens, what triggers this question, this concern,

         18  when you're talking about, you know, the reporting,

         19  ten days and sort of getting the candidates to sort

         20  of discipline to do things right and without that

         21  discipline, thinks like I have a domino effect, it

         22  reminded me of how there's so many rules, which I

         23  know you don't mean to be trapped, but that's

         24  sometimes what happens with a lot of rules. You just

         25  have to be very, like focused, almost like nicotine
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          2  focused on the procedures that are not meant to be

          3  harmful but are actually meant to provide some

          4  integrity to the process, some transparency,

          5  especially for the sake of the public, and I'm just

          6  wondering, are we getting simpler, are we getting

          7  more complex?

          8                 MS. GORDON: I think the answer is

          9  maybe a little bit of both. I would say the virtue

         10  of what you have before you --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: A little bit of

         12  both? That's confusing.

         13                 MS. GORDON: A little bit of both. The

         14  virtue of what you have before you, I think you have

         15  -- the virtue of what you have before you, for

         16  example, three different areas. You have what I like

         17  to believe are small, safe harbors, for candidates

         18  to do certain activities that will lead them not to

         19  run afoul of complex areas, as long as they keep

         20  that activity circumscribed in a small area, and I

         21  think it's a proper protection for the candidate and

         22  for the program.

         23                 In other words, the candidate has a

         24  little area of freedom, so-to-speak, it's intended

         25  not to be a huge, big area that would have
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          2  implications for the program, as a whole, but it

          3  allows the area of the political activities, the

          4  expenditure limit, documentation, and these are

          5  things that ought to be both protective of the

          6  program, but very clearly defined so that there is

          7  no chance that it will balloon into something it's

          8  not supposed to be.

          9                 So, I think that's a plus. And I

         10  think also, on your other point, the distinction

         11  between infractions and penalties is something that

         12  will also make people feel much more comfortable,

         13  that, you know, we've had a law that says a

         14  violation is a violation is a violation and now

         15  there will be something that doesn't feel or sound

         16  as bad, and I will hope that your staff certainly

         17  can convey to you, as your process has been going

         18  on, our Board has also been doing rule-making, and I

         19  think they have been in a parallel way trying to

         20  recognize these same problems, and to try to make

         21  things simpler.

         22                 There are always going to be things

         23  that are complex because campaigns are complex, some

         24  of them, and public money is going out and you want

         25  to hold people to standards. And for candidates,
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          2  everything is a two-eged sword in a way, because I

          3  think what happens is that on the one hand, a

          4  candidate wants more leeway to do things than when

          5  you get to a certain point, the complexities will

          6  start to fall into place, and if you want, you know,

          7  for example, one simplification that the Board has

          8  always urged is to have, instead of several

          9  different expenditure limits, which do cause a lot

         10  of confusion and complexity, one expenditure limit,

         11  candidates understand, and we are not so eager

         12  perhaps to buy for the simplicity into a program

         13  that they might find is antithetical to what they

         14  think their campaign program is about.

         15                 So, I don't think you can ever make

         16  it as simple as anyone would like. I think we all

         17  want to strive to do that for a lot of reasons, that

         18  we all mutually can agree upon, but I think the

         19  reality is where public funds are going out, there's

         20  always going to be a tension between what the

         21  candidates would like to be free to do and the

         22  oversight.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, I

         24  appreciate that, and I appreciate the answer that

         25  you gave.
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          2                 I'm reminded of the petitioning

          3  process for candidates and the rules and

          4  complexities of getting on the ballot over the years

          5  that ostensibly were for the same purpose that

          6  you're talking about but effectively were

          7  discouraging and even contributing to a cynicism

          8  about the political process.

          9                 I don't suggest that that's what

         10  you're doing, because I believe historically

         11  speaking, to be honest, that was the purpose at the

         12  time when those rules were created, when it came

         13  through the petitioning process for candidacies.

         14                 We've, however, recognized that and

         15  have sort of refined those rules, and now it's a lot

         16  simpler. You don't have to cross every T and dot the

         17  eye and put down every election district and every

         18  assembly district and spell avenue instead of just

         19  putting "ave" and all of those kind of things.

         20                 So, I'm just hoping that that spirit

         21  of reform that has been somewhat of a relief for

         22  those who want to participate in the political

         23  process, even though we as incumbents don't like

         24  insurgence, nevertheless, we know in a democratic

         25  society it's a good thing. I would hope that we keep
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          2  that in mind as we move through this.

          3                 I think it's very, very important

          4  that you point out that we make folks accountable,

          5  that we protect the public's, you know, money but at

          6  the same time not to get too complex about it.

          7                 Council Member Phil Reed has a

          8  question. I want to introduce the chairwoman of our

          9  Health Committee, Councilwoman Christine Quinn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         11  Chairman Perkins, and good afternoon to the

         12  Commission, I mean the board.

         13                 I've been in so many hearings, I'm

         14  not sure it's board, authority.

         15                 I haven't had a chance to thoroughly

         16  digest this, though I can definitely read the bold

         17  print for your testimony, so I'm going to reserve

         18  that.

         19                 But in your response to some of these

         20  questions and in certainly since I've been on this

         21  Committee now, finishing my fifth year on this,

         22  we've engaged in a lot of dialogue, and it seems

         23  like every time we've had a hearing about this,

         24  there becomes this issue of the big campaign, the

         25  large campaigns, versus the small campaigns, and the
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          2  number of candidates that are running as Council

          3  Members, as opposed to one size legislation fits

          4  all. So, if it's a mayoral campaign, they have the

          5  same reporting requirements as a City Council

          6  insurgence campaign, let alone just an incumbent

          7  running for office.

          8                 And, so, I'm wondering, has the

          9  Campaign Finance Board looked at making distinctions

         10  and not perhaps making the rules more lax, but

         11  perhaps making it a little bit more user-friendly.

         12  Because I think as the Chair commented, your

         13  customers, we are your customers, and usually the

         14  customer is always right, so I understand that we

         15  might have to adjust that thinking a little bit in

         16  this context since it's the public money that's at

         17  stake.

         18                 But I guess my point is, Nicole, that

         19  every single time I'm here, those are issues, and I

         20  don't think this one size fits all is getting what

         21  we want out of this. So, has the Board from time to

         22  time looked at that, I mean saying here's a

         23  threshold, there two different, not necessarily

         24  complete different sets of rules, but distinctions.

         25  Certainly as Council Member Moskowitz is pointing
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          2  out, and you know, I'm pleased personally to have

          3  just gotten a clean bill of health from the Campaign

          4  Finance Board, but we closed that campaign a year

          5  ago, and the Campaign Finance Board came back to us

          6  and asked us for reporting and this and that that

          7  took my treasurer working at least two full working

          8  days, we had to make over 150 copies, which is

          9  something that he happened to do gratis, but there

         10  was no money to do this, and I don't know how many

         11  people who can just have a good friend who will take

         12  two days off from work to respond, so I don't, you

         13  know, end up with a letter and an article in the

         14  newspaper.

         15                 And then you have these smaller

         16  candidates who don't raise very much money. So, my

         17  question is, is that something that you thought of?

         18  What will be the difficulty of that, of just helping

         19  people understand it is a simpler process than the

         20  higher officers?

         21                 MS. GORDON: We have thought about it

         22  a lot, and I think we have moved toward a lot of the

         23  administrative procedures that do recognize the

         24  difference and do attempt to be helpful to smaller

         25  campaigns.
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          2                 We have certain exemptions for

          3  disclosure requirements, for example, that if a

          4  certain amount of money isn't raised, or the size of

          5  the campaign is sufficiently small, these are

          6  relaxed for those campaigns.

          7                 Unlikely, I have to say that a

          8  sitting Council member would have had such a small

          9  campaign that any of those provisions would have

         10  favored a sitting Council member, because almost by

         11  definition these are the larger campaigns that would

         12  have had more activity and more things done.

         13                 I think, you know, one of the bad

         14  effects of term limits from where I sit is that

         15  there aren't too many people around who remember

         16  what it was like to comply with the program in 1989,

         17  and I think that if you looked at the progression

         18  over the years, I think you'd see that there have

         19  been a lot of improvements, and many of them in

         20  direct response to questions like yours or opposed.

         21  After the '89 elections, we established the

         22  candidate services unit, for example, that is there

         23  specifically to assist the candidates, and probably

         24  spend in many ways a disproportionate amount of time

         25  with the smallest campaigns because they have the
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          2  least knowledge and the least resources.

          3                 The software that was developed was

          4  developed in response to candidate requests and

          5  concerns.

          6                 The handbook that is given out is

          7  something that was done to assist the campaigns and

          8  make it as easy as possible.

          9                 You know, one development that has

         10  kind of put a crimp in that direction is that for

         11  all the good effects of the four to one public

         12  match, there's a much bigger stake now in the

         13  Council campaign than there would have been years

         14  ago, when the amount of money going out to the

         15  Council clearly was not justifying the burden

         16  administratively that was being placed on the

         17  Council campaign. Now the amount of money that's

         18  going out is a very substantial amount, and that is

         19  kind of at war with what one would have otherwise

         20  thought could be a completely upwards progression in

         21  terms of simplicity.

         22                 So, all I can say is I think that

         23  administratively we've tried very hard to be

         24  responsive to that. I think some of the steps taken

         25  in this bill are responsive to that because it will
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          2  give little safe harbors to smaller campaigns to do

          3  things that will not be as closely scrutinized

          4  because they fall within certain small limits, and,

          5  you know, that's where things stand.

          6                 I also have to say, you know, one of

          7  the problems, one the challenges, when defining a

          8  small campaign, there are some mayoral campaigns

          9  that are smaller than some Council campaigns,

         10  because they're not the main, the central party

         11  campaign, so that, you know, you run into a lot of

         12  problems trying to define it. So far we found the

         13  best ways that the size of the campaign, relative to

         14  the amount and contributions they've received, has

         15  been a place where we could have some things that

         16  are below the radar screen and are not going to be

         17  looked at.

         18                 But the bar gets higher and higher as

         19  the Council campaigns, as you know better than I do,

         20  are getting more and more expensive and the ability

         21  to go below the bar for a serious Council campaign

         22  is getting less and less.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Mr. Lane, I

         25  think you might have something to add to this
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          2  conversation that relates to concerns that

          3  Councilman Reed has enumerated, and if you don't

          4  mind, I'd like you to make a contribution in that

          5  regard.

          6                 MR. LANE: I would say, and Nicole

          7  started to hit on it at the end, there are a couple

          8  of provisions in this bill, particularly with exempt

          9  expenditures, that will reduce the kinds of burdens

         10  that members who spend under a certain amount of

         11  money on their exempt expenditure, you know, the

         12  disclosure burden will be greatly reduced on them.

         13  So, in our long negotiations with the Board on this,

         14  we've tried to find a number of ways to accomplish

         15  that goal. We've been quite conscious of it, and

         16  there are a couple of efforts made, although I must

         17  say that, you know, beyond that couple of measures,

         18  it's what we've been able to basically do.

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I wanted to

         20  just add one other part to that.

         21                 Another way to look at it is, we have

         22  exempted a number of routine political activities

         23  from coverage, which I think also will allow members

         24  to not have to worry -- they will reduce a rather

         25  complex disclosure process, or a number of choices
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          2  that members had to make in the past about whether

          3  something was requiring a disclosure. So, I think

          4  that sort of gets to the point you are making. A lot

          5  of the routine things that we do all the time in the

          6  political process, that there are some questions

          7  about whether or not they were covered or had to be

          8  charged in some way, we've clarified that so that

          9  will also take pressure off of some of the kinds of

         10  concerns you were expressing.

         11                 We can go over that after, of course.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Majority Whip Leroy Comrie.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Good afternoon. I had a couple of

         18  questions. You talked about non-sophisticated

         19  campaigns; can you give us your sense of what was

         20  your relationship with non-sophisticated campaigns,

         21  vis-a-vis how much time your agency had to spend

         22  working with non-sophisticated campaigns?

         23                 I'm not talking about you can

         24  categorize that, in terms of when you're implying

         25  from non-sophisticated that you had to spend an
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          2  inordinate amount of time with them, and how was

          3  your agency looking to improve the ability of

          4  non-sophisticated campaigns to be totally conversant

          5  with the bisontine rules of trying to run for office

          6  and manage a campaign?

          7                 MS. GORDON: I think you and I may

          8  have had a little bit of a conversation about this

          9  subject before, and you had raised something that we

         10  are looking at, which is the business of having a

         11  separate unit to talk to the really, really little

         12  campaigns, compared with the not so little

         13  campaigns. And this is something that we're looking

         14  at very seriously, because the truth is that

         15  sometimes it is a very small campaign that is not

         16  sophisticated at all that will dominate the time of

         17  a candidate services person because they're so

         18  unsophisticated that they really have to be walked

         19  through every little thing, whereas a competent

         20  treasurer in a mid-sized Council campaign can read

         21  the book and fully understand it and not need a lot

         22  of assistance to work with C Smart and so on.

         23                 You know, the amount of time that we

         24  spend, I couldn't fully speak to. I might ask Amy

         25  Loprest, who runs the unit, several units but
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          2  including the Candidate Services Unit, to respond to

          3  that.

          4                 But I also want to say something that

          5  I hope will be understood properly.

          6                 We have a situation now with the four

          7  to one match in particular that makes it very, very

          8  attractive for a lot of people that want to run for

          9  office, and there is a point at which a campaign

         10  simply does not have the ability to do the work or

         11  to meet the requirements, and it does not really

         12  have a hope of receiving public funds and probably

         13  shouldn't because it can't cope with some of the

         14  requirements.

         15                 I don't believe that necessarily all

         16  by itself means that the requirements are too

         17  difficult. I just think there are some people who

         18  are attracted to this who don't really have what

         19  they need to have in order to run a serious campaign

         20  for office, or to justify the public spending money

         21  on their campaigns.

         22                 And I think that's a distinction that

         23  people have to be prepared to accept at some point.

         24                 But I will say we worked very, very

         25  hard with a lot of very, very unsophisticated
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          2  people, and assist them to a very large extent in

          3  helping them to get money, and I think the proof of

          4  the pudding is in the eating. I mean, almost 200

          5  candidates got $41 million last year to run for

          6  public office.

          7                 So, while the standards may be

          8  exacting in some cases, the fact is that average

          9  campaigns are able to meet those standards and got

         10  money and ran meaningful, competitive campaigns. All

         11  of you had real campaigns.

         12                 Very often the past City has not seen

         13  that, and it's a healthy thing even though it may

         14  feel painful to the person who is involved. It's a

         15  healthy thing for democracy to have meaningful

         16  campaigns. And that's what we saw. So, I don't think

         17  anybody can fairly say that so many people were

         18  excluded from this but there is some problem about

         19  the qualification.

         20                 But anyway, I'll let Amy answer your

         21  question more specifically.

         22                 MS. LOPREST: I think it would be

         23  impossible to quantify to how much time. I think

         24  that there are some small campaigns, people who

         25  start with an unsophisticated treasurer. Someone who
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          2  is a volunteer who in the beginning, you know, calls

          3  every day, constant hand-holding, more than one

          4  training, and those people sometimes turn out to

          5  have the best compliance. You know, they get it.

          6  Some early work with them makes them have tremendous

          7  compliance records.

          8                 And then there are other campaigns

          9  who never call at all, and have great compliance

         10  records, some who never call at all have terrible

         11  compliance records.

         12                 I think that we try and balance, I

         13  think that the Candidate Services Unit answers all

         14  questions from all candidates, and they try and help

         15  everyone.

         16                 I mean, there is some candidates who,

         17  you know, have very unsophisticated staffs, who do

         18  require a lot of hand-holding, but I don't think

         19  that anyone else could say that the kind of

         20  services, helping those people has taken away the

         21  Candidate Services Unit ability to help their

         22  campaign. I think we fairly help everyone.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Would you

         24  agree that with more up-front training you have a

         25  smaller amount of problems from the campaign? So, if
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          2  you had mandatory training that would be a

          3  pre-requirement, maybe for a candidate, you know,

          4  but then you get into when the candidate would have

          5  to declare, you might want to start thinking,

          6  basically on just what you said, the people that did

          7  submit to the training had a better record with

          8  compliance, so...

          9                 MS. GORDON: Yes, we've been really

         10  pleased with the results of our training program. I

         11  think you've hit on something that's important to

         12  think about and talk about.

         13                 In California they have mandatory

         14  training for candidates, which I think here would be

         15  unworkable. I don't know whether their campaigns are

         16  so much smaller, but the candidate himself or

         17  herself has to attend the training. Which really

         18  makes no sense in New York City because the

         19  candidates are not running their own books and

         20  records, and it's really not necessary for them to

         21  sit there and listen to this.

         22                 The other danger, of course, with a

         23  mandatory program, is will the candidates send

         24  somebody who -- you know, lawyers complain about

         25  continuing legal education, we don't know what the

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  effects of that would be. And internally in our own

          3  staff we've had a lot of arguments about whether

          4  this is something we should want or not, but we've

          5  been very pleased with the people who do come and

          6  put effort into it, and I think it's something worth

          7  considering. But also from the candidate point of

          8  view, I don't know how it would necessarily be

          9  received.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I know

         11  that the candidate wouldn't want to do it but if we

         12  could get a, you know, designated emissary and I

         13  don't know how mandatory it must be, but I think it

         14  should be highlighted as a plus, as a positive step

         15  up for your campaign to not have to worry about

         16  compliance, and as you improve C Smart, you know,

         17  possibly I would think that maybe you want to do

         18  some things in-house with some unsophisticated

         19  campaigns, as opposed to them trying to go out and

         20  do things on their own, if you could do that

         21  through, you know, C Smart or whatever, I'm just

         22  throwing that out. But I'll change tracks for a

         23  moment, but I'll appreciate your thinking about

         24  that, and I would hope that we could at least

         25  emphasize the need for training so the
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          2  non-sophisticated campaigns would be a thing of the

          3  past.

          4                 I think that would help. And I know

          5  that, I remember that Councilman Vallone had a lot

          6  of issues with campaigns that were totally out of

          7  compliance with rules and regulations that were

          8  clear, which they were in violation of, which they

          9  just didn't care. So that's another level of even

         10  deliberate non-sophistication we may have to deal

         11  with.

         12                 But I had a question on the filing

         13  for unions that never file the --

         14                 MS. GORDON: The Pact registration.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: The Pact

         16  registration.

         17                 MS. GORDON: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Have we given

         19  thought to increasing time for them to do that, or

         20  they have electronic filing methods that would get

         21  them to do that a little quicker?

         22                 It seemed that there was a large

         23  problem across the City with people that either

         24  thought that they were involved, thought they had

         25  registered or they were a subset of a union, and
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          2  it's gotten very messy.

          3                 MS. GORDON: There are a lot of levels

          4  to that issue. One level is that Pacts have a lot of

          5  places they have to register with, and when

          6  candidates in good faith ask them, have you

          7  registered with the Campaign Finance Board, they may

          8  answer yes, and it's not really true, and they may

          9  even honestly think they have, because they've done

         10  so many of these, but they don't realize that the

         11  Campaign Finance Board is not one of the places they

         12  have to file it.

         13                 The other thing is that, although we

         14  do urge people to do this, the bottom line, the law

         15  is you're not supposed to accept a contribution

         16  unless the Pact has already registered, and you can

         17  look on our website and those Pacts will be listed.

         18  But there's a ten-day grace period so that if when

         19  you look and they're not registered, and you accept

         20  a contribution, you get ten days to get them to

         21  register. Now, there is some magic to that number.

         22  They have ten days to do the filing, and, you know,

         23  if people tell us where to send the form to, we can

         24  do all those things. The real problem I think also

         25  is that Pacts, they have different names, depending
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          2  on how you have learned what their name is, the name

          3  of the Pact may be different, and one of the places

          4  where we saw compliance issues was not so much that

          5  these pacts had not registered, but that on the

          6  disclosure report that the candidate gave us, the

          7  name was different from the Pact as registered.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          9                 MS. GORDON: So, that's another area.

         10                 I think one solution that we have

         11  proposed, but nobody is very interested in, is

         12  banning these contributions, but that seems not to

         13  be very popular.

         14                 The other thing, though, I think that

         15  will start to happen is that as these Pacts, because

         16  it's not that everybody makes a new Pact every other

         17  day, as these Pacts become part of the database, I

         18  don't think we're going to see these problems

         19  perhaps quite as often as we did, but it is an onus

         20  on the campaign, I don't really have a solution.

         21                 I mean, campaigns have to look on the

         22  website, if they don't see the name there, and they

         23  haven't made sure that the name that they give us is

         24  the same as the name on the website, where there's

         25  really no place for us to go, except to keep urging
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          2  people to please check and to make sure that their

          3  Pact understands which agency they're supposed to

          4  file with, and the form, you know, we can have it on

          5  the web. A lot of these things are really available,

          6  but the other half of the equation has to be

          7  operating as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Just one

          9  question. I couldn't figure out what was a positive

         10  political activity from, I kind of missed that.

         11                 Well, I'll defer and let someone else

         12  ask some questions.

         13                 If I still can't figure it out, I'll

         14  ask it again.

         15                 Thank you. Thank you very much.

         16                 MS. GORDON: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         18  Vallone.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 I believe last time that we did have

         22  sort of a philosophical discussion about public

         23  money being used to disseminate false information,

         24  and not to go back through what we discussed, but as

         25  an example, someone who ran against me was about to
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          2  use public money to send out literature claiming

          3  endorsements from all the newspapers, including the

          4  Times, which he absolutely did not have.

          5                 The quick summary, the law was held

          6  unconstitutional banning, trying to stop people from

          7  disseminating false information as being too vague.

          8  As far as I know that hasn't been changed, and you

          9  didn't have any rules in place regarding checking

         10  the material, and there may be some good reasons for

         11  that.

         12                 I was just wondering if there was any

         13  update regarding that situation, or any

         14  recommendations to add to this bill regarding that

         15  situation?

         16                 MS. GORDON: I would say I think this

         17  is a problem that is much more severe now, or has

         18  the potential to be much more severe now than ever

         19  before, because when we had the old matching rate,

         20  the amount in public funds any one person had, it

         21  might not be as obvious whether inaccurate or false

         22  material was being funded with public money.

         23                 But now with the four to one match, I

         24  think to the danger of what you're describing is

         25  much greater. And I wish I had an intelligent
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          2  solution to the problem.

          3                 It's a very awkward place for

          4  government to be, obviously to be judging the

          5  falseness or the truth of literature, and I really

          6  don't know a full answer. Sometimes there are

          7  quasi-governmental, not exactly quasi-governmental,

          8  but good government groups that are formed to deal

          9  with certain issues. You know there have been these

         10  fair campaign practices committees that are not

         11  actually an arm of government but which give people

         12  a seal of approval for the way their conducting

         13  their campaign, and maybe there is some group that

         14  might take an interest in that way. But it's a very

         15  difficult problem, and it's one that maybe it would

         16  be worth having some separate set of discussions

         17  about. I mean, I was very -- I told Eric this at the

         18  time, but, you know, our Board had thrown out this

         19  issue about campaigns that spent a lot of public

         20  money when they maybe don't have so much opposition,

         21  and the Board has no recommended solution to the

         22  problem but urged that people think about it and a

         23  very interesting solution came out of that process.

         24                 So, the fact that I don't have a good

         25  answer, or that people I've spoken to haven't yet
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          2  come up with something, you know, I don't know

          3  whether that's -- but one thing I think we could do

          4  and we will do, as we're just talking I'll throw

          5  this out. I mean, I will definitely get in touch

          6  with the jurisdiction that have so-called full

          7  public financing of campaigns, and find out whether

          8  they've raised this issue there because one thing

          9  the so-called 100 percent financing, there's more

         10  likelihood that the specific problem may have been

         11  raised, but I really feel inadequate to respond, I

         12  just don't know what the solution is.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Yes, I would

         14  appreciate your doing that, and us to do whatever we

         15  can to look into the situation within constitutional

         16  boundaries preventing people from disseminating

         17  false information with public money.

         18                 One last question, there's obviously

         19  a higher match if your opponent does not go into

         20  campaign finance and spends over a certain amount.

         21  My opponent, because you did your work, did not get

         22  his funding, wound up outspending me two to one or

         23  something like that, but since he was trying for

         24  public funding the entire time we did not realize we

         25  were being outspent until after the campaign was
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          2  over with. So, I never received any additional

          3  funding.

          4                 I didn't know if there was any

          5  changes that you would recommend within that regard,

          6  or any advice you have in that regard.

          7                 MS. GORDON: Well, that's an area

          8  where right now the provisions are as follows: if

          9  your opponent's Board of Elections filing, because

         10  it's by definition somebody who is not in the

         11  program -- oh, this was somebody who was in the

         12  program, right, okay.

         13                 Somebody in the program who must be

         14  not reporting fully their expenditures.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: He attempted

         16  to comply with the rules, never did, apparently,

         17  because he didn't receive public funding, and then

         18  wound up outspending me.

         19                 MS. GORDON: When he outspent you, did

         20  he go beyond the expenditure limit? That's something

         21  that would be a big compliance issue and something

         22  if you have information about, we would really want

         23  to know. And I can't say that right this minute I'm

         24  familiar with the circumstances of this particular

         25  case.
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          2                 As long as your opponent was in the

          3  expenditure limits, and outspent you, then you would

          4  not have any case. But if your opponent went outside

          5  the expenditure limits, that's a very serious

          6  violation, and that would be something that if the

          7  Board knew about it at the time, and the Board's

          8  record showed that the Board would act on it even

          9  during the election, but we'd have to -- the one

         10  thing I would mention --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm sorry,

         12  but what is the violation?

         13                 MS. GORDON: Sorry?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: What would

         15  the violation be? If he's not getting public

         16  funding, he can spend as much as he wants.

         17                 MS. GORDON: Even if you don't qualify

         18  to receive the funds, if you violate the expenditure

         19  limit, you are still in violation of the program if

         20  you have joined the program.

         21                 You join the program, you get the

         22  opportunity to qualify for public funds, but whether

         23  or not you get them, you must comply with all the

         24  other aspects of the law.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you for
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          2  that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          4                 Thank you very much for this panel,

          5  and I'm looking forward to the continued

          6  corroboration and revision and perfection with the

          7  by-words being simplicity, as you move forward, just

          8  keep it simple, okay? Thank you very much.

          9                 MS. GORDON: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Our next panel,

         11  Cathy Stewart of the Independent Party, and Harry

         12  Kresky of the Independent Party.

         13                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Could you

         14  please raise your right hand?

         15                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         16  the testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         17  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MS. STEWART: I do.

         19                 MR. TOLLIN: Could you both please

         20  state your name for the record and the organization

         21  you're affiliated with and your position?

         22                 MS. STEWART: My name is Cathy

         23  Stewart, I'm the Chair of the Independence Party of

         24  New York County and a Vice Chair of the Independence

         25  Party.
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          2                 MR. KRESKY: I'm Harry Kresky, I'm

          3  Counsel to the Independence Party. Thank you.

          4                 MS. STEWART: Thank you, Chairman

          5  Perkins for the opportunity to testify before the

          6  Committee today.

          7                 I would like to focus my comments on

          8  Section 3-709.5, which deals with mandatory debates.

          9  I also want to take this opportunity to commend

         10  Councilwoman Moskowitz and the Committee for their

         11  efforts to perfect and advance the New York City

         12  Campaign Finance Block, and thank her for reaching

         13  out to me to have a look at the public debate

         14  provision.

         15                 As the Chairperson of the

         16  Independence Party of New York County, and our

         17  statewide vice chair, the Independence Party, like

         18  many civil libertarian organizations and

         19  independents is very concerned about fostering

         20  vigorous public debate and dialogue in the election

         21  season.

         22                 The current proposal, however,

         23  retrenches one of the strongest features of the

         24  Campaign Finance Act. The City is recognized

         25  nationally for linking participation in the Campaign
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          2  Finance Program, with mandatory inclusive debates.

          3                 New York City has been a beacon and a

          4  pace setter in this arena.

          5                 What most troubles me, if I

          6  understand the legislation properly, is this shift

          7  that allows the debate sponsors to set criteria for

          8  the inclusion of candidates.

          9                 I see this as a serious step

         10  backward. Here's my concern. There's a history

         11  nationally and locally of debate sponsors setting

         12  criteria that exclude all but major party

         13  candidates. While the bill makes it very clear that

         14  the intention is not to limit the debates to major

         15  party candidates, there is absolutely nothing in the

         16  bill to compel the inclusion of minor party or

         17  independent candidates.

         18                 The current program mandates that any

         19  Citywide candidate participating in the program must

         20  be included in the first public debate.

         21                 If the concern being raised is that a

         22  candidate could simply file a piece of paper stating

         23  that they're participating in the program without

         24  mounting a serious Citywide campaign, and thereby

         25  get access to the debate, this problem could be
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          2  quickly alleviated by requiring the candidates

          3  quality for threshold for the particular office that

          4  they seek in order to be included in the debate.

          5                 That would maintain the Campaign

          6  Finance Board's role of determining who is eligible

          7  and must be included in those debates.

          8                 Giving that function away to debate

          9  sponsors to me appears to be a death warrant to open

         10  debate and will limit the new ideas and voices that

         11  voters get to hear from.

         12                 I'm also concerned that it would be

         13  highly egregious for voters in this City to be

         14  funding candidates with public funds to the tune of

         15  hundreds of thousands of dollars and not see them in

         16  those debates.

         17                 I would be eager to hear from Council

         18  members, the concerns that have prompted this

         19  direction in the legislation, and would strongly

         20  urge some redrafting of this section of the bill to

         21  guarantee that the debates don't end up de facto

         22  limited and include the broad range of candidates

         23  that New York City voters are putting on the ballot

         24  and are supporting.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Mr. Kresky, do

          3  you have testimony?

          4                 MR. KRESKY: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Did you?

          6                 MR. KRESKY: No, I thought we were

          7  doing one at a time. I'll raise my right hand.

          8                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. Do you swear

          9  or affirm the testimony you are about to give is the

         10  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 MR. KRESKY: I do.

         12                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

         13                 MR. KRESKY: Thank you.

         14                 I want to begin by commending the

         15  Committee and Council Member Moskowitz for a bill

         16  that makes significant improvements in the -- would

         17  make significant improvements in the current

         18  Campaign Finance Law, although as Stewart pointed

         19  out, the issue of debates I think is a problem, and

         20  just on the debate issue, we've learned from the

         21  federal system, which allows criteria that is

         22  supposedly objective that debate sponsors have shown

         23  themselves very adept at manipulating so-called

         24  objective criteria to include only major party

         25  candidates, and Ralph Nader was excluded from the
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          2  debate in 2000 because he didn't meet the so-called

          3  objective criteria, which of course were polls, and

          4  poll results very often depend on whether or not

          5  you're in the debates. But in any event, I think

          6  it's a very, very serious problem.

          7                 I want to address another point

          8  regarding the current system and the proposed

          9  legislation, which I think is an important one.

         10                 I'm sure that you've heard, and might

         11  even have experience, situations where a candidate

         12  literally lost the election that they might have won

         13  and that they would have been competitive because

         14  their opponent got a four to one match and they got

         15  nothing.

         16                 I represented State Senator Pedro

         17  Espada who ran for Bronx Borough President, and

         18  ended up getting no funds, despite the fact that

         19  there had been no hearing, no opportunity to be

         20  heard, no factual finding, just simply this very,

         21  very vague back and forth with the Audit Department

         22  until the primary was over, his opponents each got

         23  300, 400,000 dollars in public funding, Senator

         24  Espada got nothing and he lost a very close

         25  election.

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 It's obvious that if funding had been

          3  available, he could have won. So, that's a very,

          4  very unfortunate situation, in which a government

          5  agency has determined the outcome of an election.

          6                 And while the four to one match has

          7  certain advantages, one of the disadvantages of a

          8  four to one match is that it creates two tiers of

          9  candidates, of participating candidates, those who

         10  get the four to one match, who have an enormous

         11  advantage over candidates, and there are many

         12  candidates.

         13                 Nicole Gordon said that 200

         14  candidates got funding the last time around. I

         15  looked at the statistics some time ago, there was an

         16  article in the New York Times about the hundreds of

         17  candidates who didn't get funding, and that's a

         18  very, very bad situation, and particularly a

         19  situation in which the government is actively

         20  participating.

         21                 Now, this issue of not getting your

         22  funds in time for the election is not a situation

         23  which the bill addresses, which is the situation

         24  where there's a complaint and the bill sets up some

         25  very important due process standards of a complaint,
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          2  a finding, an opportunity to appeal.

          3                 Typically what happens in a situation

          4  that Senator Espada and many others have experienced

          5  is they make your submission, there's an audit, the

          6  auditors raise five, ten, 20 issues, and then

          7  there's this very undefined standard list back and

          8  forth in which you submit something, it's not good

          9  enough, you're never told exactly what's needed, and

         10  by the time that process plays itself out, the

         11  primary election in this case was over.

         12                 And that's a situation which does

         13  need to be addressed, and the proposed legislation

         14  does not, in my opinion, adequately address it.

         15                 It does attempt to address it by

         16  setting up, at least if I understand it, a situation

         17  where candidates are encouraged to make early

         18  filings, are then given feedback from the board with

         19  a certain time period, have an opportunity to cure,

         20  but once again it doesn't address the issue of the

         21  need for a factual finding, the need for definite

         22  standards, and you can still have that same

         23  frustrating back and forth, without any satisfactory

         24  resolution, and time can be wasted and precious time

         25  from campaigning can be lost.

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 A much better system, in my opinion,

          3  is the federal system. Under the federal system as

          4  it functions, in order to get funds a candidate must

          5  do two things. He or she must sign a certification

          6  that says they'll comply with various provisions of

          7  the Federal Election Campaign Act, and in particular

          8  the primary matching funds, that's what we're

          9  addressing, and then the candidate submits a

         10  threshold statement showing that they've raised

         11  $5,000 in each of 20 states, I believe it is. And

         12  the FEC in examining the threshold doesn't conduct a

         13  field audit, which the Campaign Finance Board does.

         14  It simply examines the threshold to determine

         15  whether or not there's facial compliance, and the

         16  FEC does not have power, under court interpretations

         17  of that statute to deny funding in the absence of a

         18  finding of patent irregularities, that if the

         19  submission is compliant on its face, then the

         20  candidate gets the funding.

         21                 After the election there are very,

         22  very stringent audits and candidates are often made

         23  to pay back significant amount of money.

         24                 Now, I suppose you could argue, well,

         25  gee, the FEC never gets all the money back, and some
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          2  of that money was wasted on candidates who shouldn't

          3  have gotten the money in the first place, but I

          4  think on balance, if you trade that problem against

          5  the situation where candidate's funding is held up,

          6  where they're actually rendered non-competitive

          7  where the outcome of what will otherwise be very

          8  competitive elections is determined because of delay

          9  of getting funds, I think on balance the trade-off

         10  weighs heavily in favor of a system where facial

         11  compliance should suffice to obtain funding, and

         12  there could be audits afterwards.

         13                 As I said, I think the current

         14  situation is a very, very unfortunate one, and my

         15  client and other candidates experienced similar

         16  kinds of problems, and I would urge the Committee,

         17  since it's begun to address this issue, to take a

         18  further look and come up with a solution that I

         19  think does away with some of the issues that I'm

         20  raising here.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me ask you,

         23  Mr. Kresky, you wouldn't suggest that all candidates

         24  are worthy of the four to one match?

         25                 When does a candidate become a

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  candidate?

          3                 MR. KRESKY: Well, I guess there's two

          4  criteria. One, they're on the ballot, and I would

          5  point out that the Board of Elections does have a

          6  system where if the system was primafacie valid, at

          7  least as far as the Board is concerned, you're on

          8  the ballot. Now, unfortunately, there's all of these

          9  challenges and so on and so forth, but that is the

         10  way New York State Election Law functions, both

         11  statewide and in the City.

         12                 And then obviously in order to get

         13  funding, a candidate has to sign a certification and

         14  has to go through this audit process, and it's

         15  really the audit process prior to getting funding

         16  that I'm talking issue with. And once again, even

         17  under the revisions in the proposed legislation, the

         18  audit process is completely undefined and

         19  standardless, and that sets up what can become a

         20  very slippery slope, and particularly given the time

         21  constraints of a primary election.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I just want to

         23  be clear, some of the so-called candidates that

         24  qualify by virtue of the standards of the Board of

         25  Elections may not necessarily qualify by virtue of
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          2  the standards, the minimum standards of the Campaign

          3  Finance program, such as a threshold that

          4  contributes from the neighborhood and a minimum

          5  amount of monies raised to begin with.

          6                 I just want to be clear, because I

          7  remember the Times article and I know that they

          8  weren't talking about, I don't think, all standards

          9  like you are talking about a specific set of

         10  candidates that at least have met the minimum

         11  threshold that the Campaign Finance Board has.

         12                 MR. KRESKY: I'm not taking issue with

         13  the threshold. I think that the threshold is

         14  important.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You're taking

         16  issue with the auditing process that assumes that

         17  you're not qualified --

         18                 MR. KRESKY: Exactly.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: -- Until you

         20  pass the audit.

         21                 MR. KRESKY: Very well put.

         22                 I think the presumption should be

         23  just the opposite.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You think they

         25  should give the money, and then certify whether or
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          2  not you deserve it?

          3                 MR. KRESKY: I think they should give

          4  the money, if there's facial compliance, i.e., you

          5  make a submission showing X number of contributors

          6  within the district who give X amount of dollars. I

          7  don't think there should be a pre-election audit. I

          8  think there should be a very stringent audit after

          9  the election, and significant penalties, paybacks

         10  and so on. And I recognize that that's going to

         11  result in some waste of public funding, but I think

         12  on balance, it's a preferable system to the one we

         13  have now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So that's like,

         15  after the horse is out of the barn, then you go try

         16  to get -- assuming that some of those horses are

         17  coming out of that barn should not be let out of the

         18  barn. We have to assume that not everybody should be

         19  out of the barn, right?

         20                 MR. KRESKY: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And we have to

         22  assume that if they got out of the barn with that

         23  money, that the chances of getting them back, I mean

         24  I don't want to be cynical because most candidates

         25  are not thieves, or whatever, but how do we protect
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          2  the public's interest when it comes to all this

          3  money that's being given out to people who may not

          4  qualify.

          5                 I think it's important that we

          6  expedite the auditing process, I'm very sympathetic

          7  to where I think you're going so that campaigns are

          8  not hobbled, you know, crippled, if you will, in the

          9  case of your candidate, as you claim, because of the

         10  auditing process.

         11                 But I also have to be somewhat

         12  concerned about making sure that the right horses

         13  get oats.

         14                 MR. KRESKY: I think Ms. Stewart has a

         15  brilliant response to your question.

         16                 MS. STEWART: I don't know about being

         17  brilliant, but I appreciate what the Council member

         18  is raising.

         19                 See, I think that there is two

         20  issues. One is, have you demonstrated compliance

         21  with the threshold requirement?

         22                 And the Campaign Finance Board has

         23  every right to evaluate that submission, and make

         24  sure it is letter perfect.

         25                 The difficulty that we've seen with

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  the auditing process, is that it becomes far more

          3  global than that, and it becomes a slippery slope

          4  without clear deadlines, without clear hearings set,

          5  and it becomes less than objective. So, it puts

          6  campaigns in a very crippled position who might have

          7  met 50 in districts and $5,000 raised, but then all

          8  these other things are being raised, that could be

          9  gray areas of law, could be -- it just becomes a

         10  very difficult arena to navigate.

         11                 MR. KRESKY: I mean, in the case of

         12  Mr. Hevesi in the Mayoral election, he literally had

         13  to reorganize his relationship with his campaign

         14  manager and campaign consultants in order to

         15  qualify.

         16                 Now, he may have been wrong, but

         17  nonetheless, I think he had a viable position, but

         18  he was put in this place where he had to essentially

         19  knuckle under, or be deprived of funding without an

         20  opportunity to contest that.

         21                 And just let me respond to the other

         22  issue that Councilman Perkins is raising.

         23                 Yes, there will be some candidates

         24  who will get away with something. On the other hand,

         25  I think there's a couple of ways to deal with that.

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  One, under the system the candidate is personally

          3  liable to return money that they shouldn't have had,

          4  and now some candidates can do that and some

          5  candidates can't. But clearly, a candidate that did

          6  that once, I think the Campaign Finance Board could

          7  legitimately say, and legally say, until that money

          8  is paid back, you're not going to participate in the

          9  program again.

         10                 So, there will be some real down

         11  sides for candidates who are seriously involved in

         12  the political process on the long term.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm going to

         14  allow Councilwoman Moskowitz and Mr. Lane to ask a

         15  few questions.

         16                 I think we're on the same wavelength

         17  in terms of simplicity and the expeditiousness of

         18  this process.

         19                 The public will not accept anyone

         20  getting away with their money. It's not quite the

         21  same -- do you understand what I'm saying?

         22                 Once the New York Post starts

         23  reporting on the number of candidates that after

         24  auditing turned out not to be qualified, and never

         25  returned that money, or there is problems getting
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          2  that money back, it has a sort of rapid cynicism

          3  thing that happens where the public will begin to

          4  realize that not only the program is costly but it's

          5  kind of corrupt. That's the concern I have.

          6                 See, it's a little different at the

          7  Board of Elections where you qualify and it's

          8  presumed, you submit your petition, and unless

          9  challenged, it's presumed you're qualified.

         10                 MR. KRESKY: I appreciate that. I

         11  think the New York Post plays too heavy a role in

         12  determining public policy in the City of New York.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I'm just

         14  using them as an extreme example.

         15                 MR. KRESKY: No, I appreciate these

         16  are real concerns. But I think the other side has to

         17  be seriously addressed, as well.

         18                 Frankly, from my point of view, and

         19  this is just my opinion: I would trade the four to

         20  one match for a two to one match if we did something

         21  about this problem. But others might not agree.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         23                 Now, let me ask a question with

         24  regard to Ms. Stewart's testimony relating to the

         25  mandatory debate situation.
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          2                 Now, you feel that the sponsors

          3  should not be the one to establish the standards for

          4  debate, right? The qualifications. And I can see the

          5  potential lack of objectivity, and sort of

          6  subjectivity so-to-speak, that that would entail.

          7                 How would you decide, you know, who

          8  would not be qualified to be in a debate?

          9                 Because at any given time, especially

         10  with major elections, you can get quite a few

         11  candidates, and you know some of them are not going

         12  to be significant, but you don't want to just

         13  because of that automatically eliminate them; how do

         14  you give the public a good debate so they can make

         15  meaningful choices, as opposed to what some

         16  candidates do, which is argue, especially the

         17  leading candidates; I'm not debating unless everyone

         18  on the dais, because they know that that will defuse

         19  the debate and in a sense confuse the public as

         20  opposed to allowing the public to have sort of a

         21  rigorous, meaningful understanding of what that

         22  stake, and how to make an informed decision.

         23                 MS. STEWART: Yes. Well, I actually

         24  think that in your last statement, Councilman, you

         25  begin to address what I'm concerned about. Although,
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          2  we might have a different view of the debates you're

          3  referencing.

          4                 But I think if you look at the state

          5  level for a moment what you see is that the debates

          6  are just straight out a political football that's

          7  used by the campaigns, and either we don't have any

          8  debates or we have debates where criteria gets set

          9  by the campaigns and the sponsors have no control.

         10  The problem there is that there is absolutely no way

         11  to compel participation by the major party

         12  candidates in a forum that favors the voters.

         13                 We don't have any kind of meaningful

         14  Campaign Finance Program at the state level. What

         15  makes the New York City program such a stellar

         16  program is that it links the meaningful

         17  participation and a funding program with

         18  participation in the debate. And it's a two-tiered

         19  debate structure, so it meets the needs of the

         20  voters, I think, in a very meaningful way. So, let's

         21  get to the general election for a moment, because

         22  that's where independents play the biggest role, and

         23  I take it that's the source of much of the concern

         24  here.

         25                 In the general election cycle, the
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          2  current Campaign Finance Program sets up two

          3  debates: It sets up a debate where everyone who is

          4  participating in the program is in the debate, and

          5  it sets up a leading contender debate, which

          6  historically has been the two major party

          7  candidates, the winners of the primary.

          8                 I think that the initial debate is

          9  critically important to the health of the electoral

         10  process, because it gives minor party candidates

         11  independent candidates -- candidates that might

         12  represent some very, very new meaningful new policy

         13  ideas, an opportunity to bring those into the

         14  election process, and, yet, there still is a leading

         15  contender debate so people get to see that head to

         16  head, that so many find meaningful in selecting who

         17  they ultimately vote for.

         18                 I would argue that the leading

         19  contenders debate still to my mind is very limiting,

         20  but we have it, it's in the program.

         21                 So, I think that if I understand the

         22  concern, and maybe I've missed this, the concern

         23  that I've heard is that it's still too broad, and

         24  you end up with candidates that don't have

         25  meaningful support from the voters of this City who
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          2  are in the debates and are disruptive.

          3                 I think a simple change in the

          4  legislation that says that the Board, not only do

          5  you have to be a participant, but you must have

          6  qualified for thresholds. So, now you're a candidate

          7  that's on the ballot Citywide, you've been through a

          8  meaningful petition process where voters have said

          9  they want your candidacy, and they supported you

         10  financially to a level that we've deemed represents

         11  a threshold that would require public funding.

         12                 So that seems to me to create an

         13  environment that's completely objective, completely

         14  out of the political hurley, burley back and forth

         15  between media debate sponsors and the major party

         16  candidates, and, yet, create a platform from which

         17  new voices could be heard.

         18                 MR. STEWART: And the threshold is

         19  substantial, so you're not going to get fly-by-night

         20  candidates that can meet the Citywide fundraising

         21  threshold.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         23  much. I think you've given us some important

         24  direction to look at in both cases.

         25                 I want to now hear from Councilwoman
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          2  Eva Moskowitz who has a question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair.

          5                 I just want to state for the record

          6  that I would be firmly opposed to the suggestion of

          7  auditing after and paying first. I don't agree with

          8  that at all. And also I'm a little trouble by the

          9  way you framed, and maybe I misunderstood, you

         10  viewed it as a bad situation that these hundreds of

         11  candidates didn't get their funds, to me that would

         12  depend on why they didn't get their funds. If they

         13  didn't get their funds because they didn't, you

         14  know, do the mechanical work, and I'm all for

         15  simplifying the mechanical work and making it as

         16  user-friendly and having as much support so that

         17  both insurgent candidates and small campaigns can

         18  take advantage and so forth. I think the answer to

         19  this problem that is troubling, and it's not only

         20  something that you referred to, but there are many

         21  candidates who maybe didn't face as quite as dire a

         22  situation as you referenced where the candidate

         23  didn't get the money at all but they had some

         24  technical problems and they got it a week or ten

         25  days late, and that can of course affect the
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          2  outcome, and I completely agree with you that you

          3  can't have the Campaign Finance Board making

          4  decisions that unintentionally affect the outcome of

          5  an election because there isn't an efficient process

          6  and so forth, and we've tried to deal in this

          7  legislation, but it's gone through so many

          8  incarnations or so many changes, reiterations, I

          9  should say, that the prompt payment and the auditing

         10  are both concerns that I know this Committee has

         11  had, I believe there are some new regs having to do

         12  with the timeliness of the audits, and the Campaign

         13  Finance Board has gotten better.

         14                 When I ran in '97, I didn't get

         15  audited until the middle of my '99 campaign. They

         16  didn't even start the questions, so I was in the

         17  middle of another campaign and I had to stop

         18  everything I was doing and go back.

         19                 So, you know, there are clearly

         20  mechanical problems that some of which the Board has

         21  addressed independently and some of which we're

         22  trying to address in the legislation.

         23                 I wanted to focus on the debate

         24  issue, I don't have written copies of your

         25  testimony; do you have that or not?
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          2                 MS. STEWART: I can get them submitted

          3  to you today.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Because it

          5  would be helpful when we're trying to think about

          6  this to make sure that I understood.

          7                 The way it works now, there are two

          8  debates -- let's talk about the general first. There

          9  are two debates, one of which is everybody, and one

         10  of which has tended to be the two major parties; is

         11  that correct? And we're talking Citywide.

         12                 MS. STEWART: These are only for

         13  Citywide offices.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Right.

         15                 MS. STEWART: And actually on a note

         16  here, one concern is that this does leave out all of

         17  our City Council races from a debate provision,

         18  which was troubling in 2001. But let's leave that

         19  aside for the moment.

         20                 At the Citywide level, and that's

         21  where there is mandatory debates, the first debate

         22  includes everyone who is a participant in the

         23  campaign finance program. Participation means simply

         24  that you have signed up to participate, you have

         25  registered, and you're on the ballot.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          3                 MS. STEWART: The second debate is

          4  leading contenders.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that

          6  seems like if it hasn't already been a problem it's

          7  a potential problem.

          8                 Let's say there were 27 parties,

          9  which there aren't, but let's say there were 27

         10  parties, would you not agree just abstractly that it

         11  would be hard to have a meaningful -- I mean, you

         12  know, as it is when I have debated my opponent, you

         13  know, you get 30 seconds, and either when there are

         14  two candidates it doesn't seem terribly meaningful,

         15  you know, whether it's New York 1 inside City Hall

         16  or whether you're doing a community -- you know, it

         17  gets a little harried.

         18                 I in my last election did, I had

         19  five, there were five parties running, and the

         20  quality of the discussion based simply on the

         21  numbers, I'm not in any way trained to denigrate any

         22  party's participation, but we could imagine the

         23  situation where it would be very difficult to have

         24  meaningful debate.

         25                 So, I guess the question, I mean it
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          2  seems like there's some number at which it wouldn't

          3  be productive.

          4                 MS. STEWART: Well, I think to me if

          5  what you're concerned about, I think you have to

          6  look at what are the voters doing, what are the

          7  voters saying to us in terms of what they're looking

          8  to create. Because after all, ultimately voters

          9  create candidacies, they create them by signing

         10  petitions and they create them by funding those

         11  candidates, particularly people participating in the

         12  program.

         13                 If you had a situation in New York

         14  City where the voters of New York City created 27

         15  candidates, I think we should find a way to create

         16  meaningful dialogue.

         17                 Voters are saying something to us.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: But the

         19  debates are not the only way to do that, right? I

         20  mean, there's literature.

         21                 MS. STEWART: Well, it's not

         22  dissimilar to whether you do participate in a

         23  campaign finance program and get your four to one

         24  match or not. If you aren't included in the debate,

         25  the level at which your campaign is viewed by all of
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          2  the arbiters of the political process, be they

          3  groups that endorse, news media, et cetera, goes

          4  down, the debates very much convey who is or isn't

          5  considered to be a serious candidate.

          6                 So, my concern here is that we be

          7  responsive to voters. If we're concerned about those

          8  candidacies who can get on the ballot but don't

          9  raise enough money to run a meaningful campaign

         10  that's reaching out to the voters, then let's simply

         11  include that criteria.

         12                 If you throw the criteria to debate

         13  sponsors, you've thrown it to the political wind,

         14  and it's going to get played back and forth and

         15  you're pretty much going to limit the kinds of new

         16  ideas you see, and the kinds of candidates that get

         17  to speak, and I think that's a disservice to the

         18  public.

         19                 MR. KRESKY: The standard objective

         20  criteria is a 15 percent showing in the polls,

         21  that's tended to eliminate all but the major party

         22  candidates, and has eliminated, as we've seen in the

         23  past, significant minor party candidates.

         24                 And once again, one debate, and then

         25  you look at the polls is a better way to do it than
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          2  having objective criteria, that would likely be

          3  that, because that's been tested, it's been won in

          4  court, there's precedence, then you don't have a

          5  shot at even achieving 15 percent if you're out of

          6  that first debate.

          7                 If you go with the suggestion that

          8  Cathy is making, then let's say you have five

          9  candidates, and then you have leading contenders

         10  based on 15 percent, even 20 percent, then those

         11  candidates that have demonstrated significant

         12  support, not just by getting on the ballot, but by

         13  meeting in the very substantial fundraising

         14  threshold to qualify for funds, would have a shot at

         15  becoming leading contenders.

         16                 The problem with the system as the

         17  bill proposes it, is you never get a shot to be a

         18  leading contender, and it seems to me that one of

         19  the functions of debate is to let the public through

         20  polls after the debate sort out who the leading

         21  contenders are.

         22                 MS. STEWART: If I could just add

         23  something about the experience of this at the

         24  national level?

         25                 If you look at the 2000 election
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          2  cycle, with the Nader candidacy in particular, all

          3  the polls showed when Americans were polled, that

          4  they wanted to see Nader included in the debate.

          5                 The criteria, the objective criteria,

          6  and they were objective, that the Commissioner on

          7  Presidential Debates shows, was to have the polling

          8  question be not who do you want to see in the

          9  debates, but who were you planning to vote for,

         10  those are two different questions.

         11                 Because the same Americans who would

         12  say who they're planning to vote for are still

         13  people who might want to see Ralph Nader in debates

         14  because they want to see a vigorous dialogue on the

         15  environment.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: You realize

         17  that also your premise is that people do want to see

         18  multiple candidates, that has not been my limited

         19  experience. I've actually been at debates where I've

         20  had to defend third-party candidates' right to be

         21  there. People are like, they don't want these, so

         22  when you go to the sort of plevicite (phonetic) you

         23  may have the opposite outcome that you want, if it's

         24  the other question that's asked.

         25                 You know, a lot of times people don't
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          2  appreciate, I think that the role historically the

          3  third-party candidates have played, they consider it

          4  a nuisance and sort of diversionary and so forth.

          5                 MS. STEWART: The national polling

          6  actually doesn't show that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay, it

          8  may be different, though. I mean, I can imagine that

          9  being correct, that at the national level there's a

         10  different sense than at the local level.

         11                 But in any case, let me ask one

         12  question about this financial -- so, when you say

         13  financial contributions, you simply mean that the

         14  Campaign Finance Board has determined that the

         15  candidate qualifies for matching fronts?

         16                 MS. STEWART: Actually what I'm

         17  suggesting is, yes, they've met the threshold

         18  requirements of number of contributions and dollars

         19  raised. So, again, just to say the seriousness of

         20  that campaign, for Mayor you have to raise a quarter

         21  of a million dollars. So, that de facto would cut

         22  down the pool of people who would be in those

         23  debates. And that's a meaningful criteria, and it's

         24  subjective, and it's known way, way in advance.

         25                 The other problem you get into, if
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          2  you get into the situation where debate sponsors are

          3  setting the criteria, is you don't know those

          4  criteria when you're setting up your campaign, when

          5  you're planning. You know what the Campaign Finance

          6  Board requires, it's objective, the standards are

          7  out there way in advance, so you structure your

          8  campaign to meet those criteria.

          9                 Debate sponsors are going to submit

         10  their proposals and that's all going to happen very,

         11  very close to the time of the debate.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Another

         13  thing you should realize that we're struggling with

         14  a little bit is when it's appropriate to set the

         15  criteria. I mean, we could do that ad infinitum, you

         16  know, we could sort of not have a regulatory body

         17  and a legislative body could of sort of micro

         18  manage, and I think one of the things we're trying

         19  to strike a balance with here is what should the

         20  regulatory agency decide. This is an agency that

         21  does have a commitment to fairness and

         22  competitiveness and public engagement and so forth,

         23  and when is it appropriate for us as the legislative

         24  body to how much detail to spell out, you will note

         25  that here we've tried to indicate the legislative
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          2  intent, which is not to be ideologically

          3  discriminatory in any way.

          4                 But I appreciate your testimony, and

          5  obviously I certainly will think about it long and

          6  hard, and if you could get us a written copy, that

          7  would be helpful.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

          9  acknowledge the Chairman of our Senior Services

         10  Committee who has joined us, Council Member Mike

         11  Nelson.

         12                 Eric.

         13                 MR. LANE: I just had one point I

         14  wanted to make, with reference to the second issue

         15  you've been raising, and I think Mr. Kresky made a

         16  comment about it.

         17                 We do in the bill try to address the

         18  issue balanced against our concern about the public

         19  fisk through (a) requiring Council Member candidates

         20  to file in ways that they only had to, you know,

         21  they could in their own discretion previously; and

         22  (b) requiring the Board to comment on those filings

         23  on a regular basis.

         24                 Now, it's our goal there, and maybe

         25  we will have to revisit this, but actually our goal
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          2  there is in some ways to address some of the kinds

          3  of problems that you are raising, they get a free

          4  shot at doing this prior to their own decision to

          5  enter the campaign program, and by doing that our

          6  hope would be that some of these people that are

          7  having problems can work those problems out.

          8                 So, the bill is conscious of your

          9  concern, and I know you acknowledge that, but I

         10  think our own sensibility about this, given both

         11  Council members' comments on it, whereas we would

         12  like to wait and see how this works before we made

         13  any determination that money should just go, you

         14  know, flowing out.

         15                 MR. KRESKY: I understand.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me express

         17  again our appreciation for your testimony.

         18                 I think on one hand we're not

         19  interested in hobbling any candidacy with audits.

         20  Quite the opposite, we want to free up the

         21  candidacies through the auditing process, such that

         22  the public's money can be accounted for and whatnot,

         23  but we know that the auditing can be a hobbling

         24  process, so we will appreciate your concerns about

         25  that. I think you are on target with what we're
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          2  trying to do and we appreciate your thinking in that

          3  vein, and that by the same token, needless to say we

          4  want to democratize the debate process, but we don't

          5  want the looney tunes that may not necessarily bring

          6  anything to the debate process, to the

          7  democratization of the debate process, to hurt the

          8  public's opportunity to really understand what's at

          9  stake and to make informed decisions. And that's

         10  somewhat abstract and vague but I do know that from

         11  what I hear from you that you recognize that there's

         12  limits to who can participate in the debate.

         13                 Now, how those limits are determined

         14  is another question, but it's an important question

         15  and I guess it's going to always be an important

         16  question as this democracy evolves and to some

         17  extent the campaign finance program has to address

         18  it, but I'm not sure it can be the ultimate answer

         19  of it, okay?

         20                 MR. KRESKY: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But that's my,

         22  on man's opinion.

         23                 Thank you very much for your

         24  participation.

         25                 MR. KRESKY: If I might just raise one
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          2  other thing that's not directly on point, I just

          3  wanted to thank Councilman Perkins for the role you

          4  played in reopening the Central Park case.

          5                 I just think you've done a great

          6  service to the justice system and the people of New

          7  York.

          8                 So, thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 We are about to adjourn this hearing.

         12  Again, I want to for the record express our

         13  appreciation to Eva Moskowitz, Council Member

         14  Moskowitz, Eric Lane, Matthew Tollin, and other

         15  members of our central staff, including the Campaign

         16  Finance Program for their focus on this here.

         17                 This is a boring sometimes, technical

         18  sometimes subject, but it is the sort of jewel in

         19  our crown in terms of this Council and in terms of

         20  this City as we try to get closer and closer to the

         21  perfect democracy.

         22                 And we want to keep working at it,

         23  recognizing that at some point we're going to have

         24  to make some decisions and then revisit it any way

         25  at another point in time, but I really think that
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          2  this is very, very important and I appreciate your

          3  patience and time that you're putting into it.

          4                 With that in mind, this meeting is

          5  adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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